Quaderni di finanza

Attitudine alla pianificazione finanziaria delle famiglie italiane

M. Brunetti, R. Ciciretti, M. Gentile, N. Linciano, P. Soccorso



89

settembre 2022

L'attività di ricerca e analisi della Consob intende promuovere la riflessione e stimolare il dibattito su temi relativi all'economia e alla regolamentazione del sistema finanziario.

I Quaderni di finanza accolgono lavori di ricerca volti a contribuire al dibattito accademico su questioni di economia e finanza. Le opinioni espresse nei lavori sono attribuibili esclusivamente agli autori e non rappresentano posizioni ufficiali della Consob, né impegnano in alcun modo la responsabilità dell'Istituto. Nel citare i lavori della collana, non è pertanto corretto attribuire le argomentazioni ivi espresse alla Consob o ai suoi Vertici.

l Discussion papers ospitano analisi di carattere generale sulle dinamiche del sistema finanziario rilevanti per l'attività istituzionale.

I Quaderni giuridici accolgono lavori di ricerca volti a contribuire al dibattito accademico su questioni di diritto. Le opinioni espresse nei lavori sono attribuibili esclusivamente agli autori e non rappresentano posizioni ufficiali della Consob, né impegnano in alcun modo la responsabilità dell'Istituto. Nel citare i lavori della collana, non è pertanto corretto attribuire le argomentazioni ivi espresse alla Consob o ai suoi Vertici.

I Position papers, curati dalla Consob anche in collaborazione con altre istituzioni, illustrano ipotesi di modifiche del quadro regolamentare o degli approcci di vigilanza e ricognizioni di aspetti applicativi della normativa vigente.

Comitato di Redazione

Concetta Brescia Morra, Nadia Linciano, Rossella Locatelli, Caterina Lucarelli, Marco Maugeri, Francesco Nucci, Francesco Saita, Umberto Tombari, Gianfranco Trovatore, Marco Ventoruzzo

Segreteria di Redazione Eugenia Della Libera

Progetto Grafico Studio Ruggieri Poggi

Stampa e allestimento Tipografia Eurosia srl (Roma) http://www.tipografiaeurosia.it

Consob

00198 Roma – Via G.B. Martini, 3 t 06.8477.1 f 06.8477612 e studi_analisi@consob.it

ISSN 2281-1915 (online) ISSN 1121-3795 (stampa)

Attitudine alla pianificazione finanziaria delle famiglie italiane

M. Brunetti*, R. Ciciretti**, M. Gentile***, N. Linciano***, P. Soccorso***

Sintesi del lavoro

Gestire le proprie finanze sulla base di un processo strutturato di pianificazione finanziaria si associa a un maggior livello di benessere finanziario e a una maggiore capacità di reagire agli imprevisti. È dunque importante comprendere quali fattori si associano alla propensione alla pianificazione e quali leve possono essere utilizzate per promuovere tale comportamento. Il tema è di particolare interesse in Italia, dove tale attitudine è ancora poco diffusa. Il presente lavoro fornisce un contributo in materia, utilizzando i dati della indagine CONSOB sulle scelte di investimento delle famiglie italiane per gli anni 2019-2021. I risultati ottenuti dalla stima di un modello *probit* mostrano un'associazione positiva tra pianificazione finanziaria e conoscenze finanziarie nonché la rilevanza dei comportamenti di *financial control* (controllo/gestione dei risparmi, delle spese e dell'indebitamento) e della condizione finanziaria complessiva. Un ruolo importante è riferibile anche a tratti personali come la percezione di auto-efficacia in ambito finanziario e l'attitudine a provare ansia nella gestione delle proprie finanze, che si associano entrambe a una minore propensione alla pianificazione. In particolare, appaiono meno propensi a pianificare sia gli individui che si ritengono in grado di gestire i problemi finanziari in ogni caso sia gli intervistati

JEL Classifications: D14, G51, G53, C21, C51.

Keywords: pianificazione finanziaria, gestione del bilancio famigliare, finanza personale, controllo finanziario, auto-efficacia finanziaria, conoscenze finanziarie.

*Dipartimento di Economia e Finanza, Università di Roma Tor Vergata, CEIS e CEFIN

**Dipartimento di Economia e Finanza, Università di Roma Tor Vergata, CEIS e RCEA

*** CONSOB, Divisione Studi.

Si ringraziano Alberto Noè per il supporto prestato all'attività di *review* della letteratura nonché Cynthia Little e un anonimo *referee* per i preziosi commenti. Errori e imprecisioni sono imputabili esclusivamente agli autori. Le opinioni espresse nel lavoro sono attribuibili esclusivamente agli autori e non impegnano in alcun modo la responsabilità dell'Istituto. Nel citare il presente lavoro, non è, pertanto, corretto attribuire le argomentazioni ivi espresse alla CONSOB o ai suoi Vertici.

che preferiscono non pensare alla propria situazione finanziaria per alleviare l'ansia. Le evidenze raccolte offrono interessanti indicazioni per la segmentazione dei decisori finanziari utile alla progettazione delle iniziative di educazione finanziaria e allo sviluppo di una relazione intermediario-cliente volta a promuovere attitudini e scelte corrette nella gestione delle finanze personali. In particolare, emerge la necessità di innalzare la consapevolezza delle competenze finanziarie e degli effetti distorsivi che altri tratti individuali possono avere sulle scelte economiche. In questo contesto, è cruciale utilizzare efficaci strumenti per la rilevazione delle caratteristiche individuali, quali ad esempio questionari multi-item validati dalla letteratura sperimentale.

Attitude towards financial planning of Italian households

M. Brunetti*, R. Ciciretti**, M. Gentile***, N. Linciano***, P. Soccorso***

Abstract

Employing structured financial planning to manage personal finances is associated with higher levels of financial well-being and increased resiliency to shocks. Therefore, it is important to understand the factors associated with the propensity to plan and what it is that promotes financial planning. This issue is especially relevant in Italy, where financial planning is not widespread among households yet. This study brings empirical evidence on this by using CONSOB survey data on the financial investments of Italian household (or FIIH) over 2019-2021. Estimation results of a probit model show a positive association between financial planning and financial knowledge, and the relevance of financial control (control over savings, spending and indebtedness) and financial conditions. Also personal traits such as financial self-efficacy and financial anxiety play a main role, resulting to be associated with a reduced propensity to plan: in particular, financial decision-makers who find it easy to resolve financial problems and to be able to cope with them in any case, and respondents who prefer not to think about their financial conditions, in order to mitigate perceived anxiety, are less likely to set a financial plan. These findings provide useful insights for the design of financial education initiatives and for an interaction between client and intermediary aimed at promoting appropriate attitudes and choices towards money management. Since perceived ability to solve financial issues plays a role in financial planning, more attention should be paid to enabling the population to have a better and unbiased awareness of their financial skills. It is also important to take account of additional personal traits, such as financial anxiety, when considering individual segmentation and the definition of content and methods. In this respect, the tools used to elicit individuals' personal traits will be crucial. The use of multi-item questionnaires, corroborated by the experimental literature, could help to mitigate the risk of unreliable self-assessments.

JEL Classifications: D14, G51, G53, C21, C51.

Keywords: financial planning, budgeting, household finance, financial control, financial self-efficacy, financial literacy, financial knowledge.

- * Dipartimento di Economia e Finanza, Università di Roma Tor Vergata, CEIS e CEFIN, mail: marianna.brunetti@uniroma2.it
- ** Dipartimento di Economia e Finanza, Università di Roma Tor Vergata, CEIS e RCEA, mail: rocco.ciciretti@uniroma2.it

*** CONSOB, Research Department, mail: n.linciano@consob.it, m.gentile@consob.it, p.soccorso@consob.it.

We wish to thank Alberto Noè for his contribution to literature review and Cynthia Little and an anonymous referee for their useful comments. The authors are responsible for any errors and the opinions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect CONSOB views.

Contents

| 1 | Introduction | 7 |
|---|--|----|
| 2 | Review of the literature | 9 |
| 3 | The sample and the construction of key variables | 13 |
| 4 | Model specification | 18 |
| | 4.1 Alternative model specifications | 19 |
| 5 | Estimation results | 20 |
| | 5.1 Pooled sample model specifications | 20 |
| | 5.2 Cross-section model analysis | 22 |
| 6 | Conclusions | 23 |

| References | 27 |
|------------|----|
| | |
| Appendix | 33 |

1 Introduction

Theoretical and empirical research shows that financial planning and virtuous personal finance management habits help to reduce expenses and smooth consumption, ensuring a better standard of living along the life-cycle and enhancing financial resilience. These benefits are increasingly relevant in the current context of an ageing population and economic and geopolitical uncertainty.

The progressive ageing of the population has been a characteristic of the European Union countries: in the EU-28 countries, the median age has risen from 40 years in 2007 to around 44 years in 2021, and the proportion of individuals aged 65 and over is estimated to reach 22% in 2025. The Italian population is relatively older than the populations in other EU countries: in 2021, the median age in Italy was around 48 years, while the share of people aged over 65 is expected to reach 25% by 2025. In line with these demographic dynamics, at the beginning of 2021 in Italy the dependency rate of individuals aged 65 and over on the working-age population (15-64) reached 37%, around 5 percentage points higher than the Eurozone value.¹

In this context, the saving capacity of individuals and their ability to save for retirement or for a 'rainy day' constitute strictly necessary skills for household financial well-being and financial stability more generally. Also higher life expectancy and the resulting longevity risk, combined with vulnerability and uncertainty, make the ability to participate in proper financial planning activities increasingly important, to allow transfers of resources over time, maintenance of the same living standards during retirement as were enjoyed during working life, and enhanced financial resilience to economic shocks.

The 2021 CONSOB (Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa) Survey report of the Observatory on 'The approach to finance and investment of Italian house-holds' (alternatively 'the CONSOB Observatory' or 'the Survey') shows that more than 70% of Italian financial decision makers declared that they (either regularly or occasionally) saved.² However, in line with previous surveys, the 2021 data confirm that most respondents had no financial plan in place and did not live within their financial budget at all times (only around 10% reported both habits). Precautionary saving is the main driver of saving, although the percentage of people who stated that they did not have a particular reason for saving has increased significantly, often as a result of reduced ability to consume due to the Covid-19 restrictions.³

¹ Eurostat 'Population structure and ageing', 2021. The ageing population attracted the attention of many policy makers including the European Commission which in 2018 published a Report on the so-called silver economy, aimed at identifying the strategies that member countries can put in place to address the challenges posed by an increasingly ageing population (European Commission, 2018).

² The CONSOB Observatory on 'The approach to finance and investment of Italian households' collects survey data. The main findings of the Observatory are presented in the annual Report on financial investments of Italian households (CONSOB, 2021). The Survey is representative of the population of Italian financial decision-makers, defined as the primary family income earner (or in the case of non-working male and female households, the oldest man or in all female households the oldest woman), aged between 18 and 74 years. Since 2019, the Survey has included a longitudinal component (panel) to track the evolution of respondents' financial attitudes and behaviours over time.

³ The predominance of the precautionary motive reflects the hierarchy of needs represented by Maslow's pyramid, which identifies 6 different levels from the most basic to the most complex (Lee and Hanna, 2015). Purchase of durable goods

This and other evidence gathered through the Survey confirm that the health crisis had an impact on Italian households' ability to save and the reasons for saving, and point to the need to investigate the determinants of financial planning in order to identify what levers can be used to help savers in their decision making and allow them to exploit all of the benefits associated with a well-structured financial control process.

The present study relies on probit estimates based on CONSOB Observatory survey data to measure the association between financial planning habits and several other factors, including socio-demographic variables, actual and perceived financial knowledge, financial control habits, personal traits and psychological attitudes.

The results show that there is a positive association between financial planning and financial knowledge (actual and perceived). Emotional factors and self-perceptions, such as self-efficacy and financial anxiety, also play a role and have a negative effect on the probability to have a financial plan. In particular, financial decisionmakers who consider it straightforward to identify a solution to a financial problem, and respondents who prefer not to think about their particular financial conditions, are less likely to have in place a financial plan. Also relevant are financial control habits and financial conditions: financial decision makers who are in debt, wealthy individuals, individuals who prefer to stick to a budget and individuals who save regularly are more likely to set financial plans.

This study adds to the literature on household finance and financial control. The findings from our analysis could be of interest to institutions engaged in the design of financial education programmes, as they allow a better segmentation of the target population, also on the basis of psychological attitudes, usually neglected, and a better definition of educational contents. The findings discussed above provide food for thought also with respect to the interaction between investors and intermediaries, which could encourage appropriate financial attitudes and behaviours in the field of money management.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows: Section 2 provides a review of the literature on the determinants of financial planning; Sections 3 and 4 describe the data and the methodological approach, and present the descriptive statistics of the estimation sample, respectively; Section 5 presents the main results and Section 6 concludes the paper.

is the lowest level and corresponds to the most basic saving needs; house purchase and saving to cope with unforeseen events belong to the 2nd level of the hierarchy (emergency/safety motives), financial security and physical safety and saving for retirement belong to the 3rd level and reflect the desire to avoid financial difficulties after retirement (retirement motive). The 4th level (love/societal needs goal) includes savings for specific family or child care expenses while the 5th level includes 'enjoying life' (e.g., purchase of a second home, purchase of a car/boat, travel). The 6th level (esteem/luxuries) is associated with achievement of self-esteem, and saving for self-actualisation linked to the effort to achieve one's full potential in life (self-actualisation).

2 Review of the literature

Financial planning refers to the activity of organizing the allocation of income across expected expenditures and savings, over a certain period of time, as part of a defined plan. In line with the Financial competence framework for adults in the European Union (or the Framework), a financial planning process involves identifying and prioritising 'needs' and 'wants' and controlling money in-flows and out-flows and it relies on *«competences related to both saving and investments, and credit and debt management»* (European Union/OECD, 2022, p. 9).

Theoretical and empirical studies suggest that the main potential benefits stemming from financial planning include: reducing expenses and smoothing consumption and, thereby, ensuring a better standard of living along the life-cycle, increasing savings, reducing over-indebtedness and enhancing financial resilience (see among others Anderson et al., 2000; Elder and Rudolph, 1999; Hanna and Lindamood, 2010; van Rooij et al., 2012; Warschauer, 2008; Williams, 1991). Ameriks et al. (2003) found that individuals with a higher propensity to plan were better able to control their spending, to save more and to achieve their financial goals. More generally, several studies show that financial planning is correlated positively with healthy financial behaviours (Strömbäck et al., 2017; Topa et al., 2018). Also, Kim and Hanna (2017) argue that the ability to save increases with the adoption of one or more rules of behaviour, while the mere setting of a saving target (e.g., for retirement purposes) may not be a sufficient incentive to save.

Financial planning research uses a range of conceptual frameworks, such as the Life Cycle Hypothesis (Modigliani and Brumberg, 1954), Modern Portfolio Theory (Markowitz, 1952) and Behavioural Finance Theory and Prospect Theory (Tversky and Kahneman, 1973, 1975; see also Acharjya and Natarajan, 2018 and Bogan et al., 2020). Bogan et al. (2020) identify eight interrelated fields informing financial planning: behavioural finance; consumer financial decision-making; consumer protection, policy, and regulation; financial therapy, literacy, and wellness; household finance; human sciences; portfolio choice; and psychology and human decision-making. Traditional theoretical models of financial decision making, suppose rational agents optimizing utility over time whereas most recent behavioural finance studies recognise that financial choices are affected by a number of cognitive and behavioural biases and emotional factors. Empirical analysis allows the identification of commonalities in the factors underpinning financial planning, such as the role of financial literacy, personal traits and socio-demographics. We refer to these factors briefly in the following paragraphs.

The role of financial literacy

Financial literacy can be defined as «a combination of financial awareness, knowledge, skills, attitudes and behaviours necessary to make sound financial decisions and ultimately achieve individual financial well-being» (European Union/OECD, 2022, p. 71). A large stream of the empirical literature suggests that individual choices about

savings, loans, investments, insurance and pensions are driven not only by financial knowledge but also by a larger set of skills and awareness, such as the understanding of the long-term consequences of current choices (Lusardi and Mitchell, 2007, 2011b; Nye and Hillyard, 2013).

Financial knowledge promotes saving planning and, consequently, the accumulation of wealth (Behrman et al., 2012; Hilgert et al., 2003). Yakoboski et al. (2019) point out that decision makers with higher levels of financial knowledge are more able to manage financial shocks and to save for retirement on a regular basis, and are less likely to be debt constrained. Other studies highlight the relevance of adequate financial knowledge for pursuing and achieving financial goals through appropriate saving choices (Lusardi, 2008; van Rooij et al., 2012), postponing present satisfaction for future results (Brounen et al., 2016) and planning for retirement (Lusardi and Mitchell, 2007, 2008, 2011b). Alhenawia and Elkhalb (2013) find a positive, albeit small, correlation between knowledge and financial planning.

Financial choices are affected by both actual and perceived financial knowledge, since individuals often make decisions based on what they believe they know (Hung et al., 2009; Robb and Woodyard, 2011). Several studies show that taking account self-assessed financial knowledge provides a deeper understanding of observed behaviours. Allgood and Walstad (2016) estimated the effects of both actual and perceived financial knowledge and show that the latter helps to explain some decisions, such as those regarding credit card management. The authors assume that a positive self-assessment may be driven by an interest in personal finance topics, an individual positive attitude and the perception of self-control, i.e. the perception of being able to cope with a specific financial situation.

The impact of an upward bias in self-assessed knowledge and skills is a highly debated issue. Although many studies show that overvaluation of personal skills might induce suboptimal investment choices (Barber and Odean, 2001; Biais et al., 2005; Brohianne et al., 2014; Glaser and Weber, 2007; Nosic and Weber, 2010), some authors find a positive correlation between over-confidence and the propensity to plan and save (Parker, et al., 2012). This is a somewhat surprising result since, as the level of financial literacy contributes to competence in decision making, it might be expected that correct financial behaviours, such as planning, would be associated to a self-assessment that is in line with the actual degree of financial literacy.

Anderson et al. (2015) point to a learning-by-doing effect, whereby a favourable self-assessment of one's abilities induces engagement in one's financial decisions, which, in turn, increases both actual and perceived knowledge. These results underline the need to identify and correct for endogeneity and reverse causality in the analysis of the relationship between knowledge and financial behaviours (such as planning).

The role of personal traits

In addition to financial knowledge, psychological traits have an important influence on financial decisions, attitudes and behaviours.

The seminal paper by Katona (1974) published in the Journal of Consumer Research was the first to acknowledge the relevance of psychological factors for shaping consumption plans and observed spending, saving, and wealth accumulation. Subsequent analyses show that psychological traits are powerful predictors of economic outcomes (Borghans et al., 2008; Brounen et al., 2016).

The ability to structure a decision-making process oriented to multiple financial goals, with different priorities and time frames, requires complex reasoning and problem analysing (or deliberate thinking) skills. It can be affected, also, by utility preferences and attitudes to risk.

Stewart and Vogt (1999) explored the role of subjective preferences and argue that people may differ about whether or not they like planning and experience positive associations – such as competence and security– or negative associations – such as lack of spontaneity. Ameriks et al. (2003) consider that, while more risk averse people might receive greater utility from planning, individuals operating in unpredictable environments may find improvisation rather than planning more beneficial. On the other hand, Chatterjee et al. (2017) shows that tolerance to risk explains the propensity to save for emergencies or retirement.

However, households with similar economic and demographic characteristics accumulate radically different amounts of wealth and these differences cannot be explained empirically by observed differences in risk preferences and discount factors. Therefore, we need to explore the role of attitudes and skills underlying the propensity to plan, which, in turn, may explain differential wealth accumulation patterns (Ameriks et al., 2003).

The choice to plan may result from a rational response to subjective preferences or from psychological biases and personal attitudes (Dow and Jin, 2013), such as short-termism, inclination to procrastinate or financial anxiety. All these factors might be interacting over time and might have unpredictable and heterogeneous effects on financial decisions.

Empirical research shows that attitude towards procrastination, perceived self-control and the propensity for deliberate thinking are important predictors of financial behaviour (Gamst-Klaussen et al., 2019; Strömbäck et al., 2017). Several authors provide evidence of a positive association between poor personal finances and impulsivity and reduced appreciation of the long-term consequences of current choices (Gamst-Klaussen et al., 2007, 2010).

Steel (2007) and Steel et al. (2018) show that procrastination (i.e., voluntary delaying of an intended course of action despite the probability of a worse outcome due to the delay) is associated strongly with impulsivity and present-bias preferences. Impulsive individuals are often poor or absent planners and planning shows a moderate and negative correlation with procrastination. Brown and Previtero (2014) demonstrate that, in the context of important financial decisions, related to retirement planning, for instance, procrastinators behave differently from non-procrastinators and are less likely to participate in saving plans and to save a fixed sum every month. Sekita et al. (2018) show that myopia has a negative impact on wealth accumulation.

Several papers explore the disempowering impact of various perceptions and emotions on the ability to manage financial resources effectively, through a well-structured planning activity, such as self-efficacy,⁴ self-control and financial anxiety (Burchell, 2003; Grable et al., 2015; Kim and Hanna, 2017; Shapiro and Burchell, 2012; Shefrin and Thaler, 1981).

Shim et al. (2009) and others have suggested that there is an important link between self-efficacy and financial knowledge and financial behaviour. Lown et al. (2015) highlight the relevance of financial self-efficacy for household saving choices. Gamst-Klaussen et al. (2019) argue that self-efficacy reflects the ability and, in turn, may affect the motivation to save, since those individuals who consider themselves as ineffective will be more likely to quit or reduce efforts when faced with financial challenges or obstacles and, thus, are likely to be more prone to unhealthy financial behaviours such as impulse buying. In line with empirical research on the negative relationship between lack of self-control and accumulation of wealth (Ameriks et al., 2003; Ameriks et al., 2007), Gathergood (2012) found that individuals with low self-control and poor financial literacy were more likely to suffer adverse financial shocks and suggested that their impulsive behaviour might affect several dimensions of their economic choices, from consumption and saving to over-indebtedness. Since self-efficacy reflects an optimistic belief in personal ability to succeed, it is correlated strongly with self-assessment of personal skills and self-motivation and, thus, may encourage people to actively control their finances (Gamst-Klaussen et al., 2019).⁵

The findings in Gamst-Klaussen et al. (2019) suggest the interplay among different dimensions of individual self-control and possible interactions between selfefficacy and motivation on the one side and procrastination and financial anxiety on the other.

There is a stream of literature that confirms that financial anxiety may reduce the propensity for planning (Grable et al., 2015; Burchell, 2003; Shapiro and Burchell, 2012), suggesting that financial anxiety may be intertwined with the feeling of avoidance (i.e., the will to avoid thinking about the state of one's own personal finance) and disengagement (i.e., lack of commitment to managing personal finances). However, the impact of financial anxiety on attitudes to financial planning is an open question. In principle, it might also be positive if more anxious individuals were able to mitigate their discomfort by planning, which would enhance their resilience to financial shocks.

⁴ Self-efficacy can be defined as the individual's belief in her/his ability to succeed at specific tasks (Bandura, 1977, 1986 and 1997). Self-efficacy expresses the perception of difficulties, challenges, confidence and fears in dealing adequately with financial problems (Lown, 2011) and, in this sense, interplays with the degree of awareness about one's own knowledge.

⁵ These results are consistent with the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB), according to which intentions are the precursors of a specific behaviour. Indeed, intentions depend on attitudes (i.e., one's personal overall evaluation of the behaviour), social pressure (which feeds into social norms and motivation) and behavioural control (i.e., perception of one's ability to enact the behaviour). All these psychological constructs are underpinned by background variables, such as individual features (e.g., personality traits or experience), social features (e.g., education, age, gender and income) and information features (e.g., knowledge and media). In this framework, intention towards a specific behaviour can be boosted by interventions that affect attitudes, perceived social pressure and feelings of control (Billari et al., 2019).

The role of socio-demographic factors

Among the socio-demographic factors considered by Becker and Mulligan (1997), life expectancy and age are shown to be poor predictors of a good attitude to planning, while sex, education and wealth can have a significant impact. In the specific context of retirement planning, Lusardi and Mitchell (2007) confirm that women and low-income and poorly educated individuals are less likely to plan. In a follow-up study conducted in 2008, the authors provide further evidence of women's lower propensity to engage in retirement planning, especially in the older-age subgroup. Similar evidence on attitudes to retirement planning and the link to education level and income has been documented for Italy (Fornero and Monticone, 2011), France (Arrondel et al., 2013), Russia (Klapper and Panos, 2011), the United States (Lusardi and Mitchell, 2011b) and Canada (Boisclair et al., 2014).

The direction of the relationship between financial planning and wealth accumulation is not clear a priori. On the one hand, it might be assumed that poor households would be more likely to focus on meeting their immediate financial needs and, thus, not engage in financial planning. On the other hand, a well-directed planning process might benefit poor individuals (Dow and Jin, 2013). Also, individuals who are more future-oriented are more likely to save and invest, which will result in their greater wealth over time (Ameriks et al., 2003).⁶

3 The sample and the construction of key variables

CONSOB Survey collects data for a representative sample of the population of Italian financial decision-makers. Since 2019, the Survey has included a longitudinal component (panel) to track the evolution of respondents' financial attitudes and behaviours over time. The Survey asks about individuals' financial control habits in terms of financial planning, budgeting and saving.

Among socio-demographic characteristics, on average, 73% of financial decision makers are men, 32% live in the South of Italy or the Islands, 20% have a bachelor's degree, 61% are married, and the average age is 52 years. In terms of professional status, 48% are employees and around 24% are retired. In addition, as expected, financial wealth distribution is left skewed, given that for 70% of respondents savings and investments amount to a maximum of 25.000 euro. Indebtedness to banks or financial institutions affects 39% of respondents. Finally, the average household includes three family members.

In the context of 'financial planning', respondents are asked about the existence of a financial plan 'in the previous 12 months, in the previous 3 years, in the previous 5 years, for more than 5 years'. For our study, we consider only those individuals with a financial plan in place as those reporting having a financial plan in place

⁶ In order to identify the impact of wealth on planning, the authors use instruments for planning to isolate the impact of exogenous shocks of planning on wealth.

for the previous 12 months. Considering the activity over such a short time span allows detection of changes in respondents' behaviour from one year to another.⁷

For the other variables describing financial control, 'budgeting' is defined as indicating absolute sticking to a budget, and 'saving' is defined as regular setting aside of part of the respondent's income. The Survey also asks about indebtedness – towards both banks and financial intermediaries and relatives and friends (See Appendix Table a.1 for a more detailed description of the variables).

Table 1 reports the descriptive statistics for the above-mentioned variables.

Table 1 – Average values by year

| variable | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 | all years |
|--|-------|-------|-------|-----------|
| financial planning (previous 12 months) | 8% | 10% | 6% | 8% |
| budgeting | 25% | 21% | 21% | 22% |
| saving | 37% | 39% | 37% | 38% |
| indebtedness towards banks | 39% | 41% | 40% | 39% |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 8% | 9% | 9% | 8% |
| n° observations | 2,920 | 3,089 | 2,695 | 8,704 |

Rates of diffusion as percentages. Here and in the following tables statistics are computed by applying sample weights.

From 2019 to 2021, the proportion of interviewees who stated having had a financial plan in place during the previous 12 months peaked in 2020 (10%) and then declined significantly in 2021 (6%). The proportion of respondents declaring themselves able to stick to a budget shows a decline over time, from 25% in 2019 to 21% in 2021, but attitudes to saving have remained stable. Indebtedness to banks and financial institutions has increased (3-year average of 40%) more than indebtedness to relatives and friends (8%).

Financial knowledge is measured through five-question quiz about the basic notions of inflation, compound interest, mortgages, diversification and the risk-return relationship (the so called big-five).⁸ Responses were used to compute two financial knowledge indicators. The first is the first principal component computed on the correct answers to the financial knowledge quiz, normalised between zero and 1 (financial knowledge indicator; Table 2). The second is the first principal component computed on the correct answers, net of potentially unintentional correct answers, where the latter are identified whenever interviewees did not know or refused to self-assess the number of correct answers given to the quiz (hereafter also adjusted financial knowledge indicator).

⁷ However, if we take account of those who report having financial planning in place for more than 12 months, results do not change significantly (results available upon request).

⁸ Lusardi and Mitchell (2008); Lusardi and Mitchell (2009); Lusardi and Mitchell (2011a); Lusardi and Mitchell (2014); Lusardi et al. (2010); van Rooij et al. (2011).

The responses to the survey questions allow us to proxy individual perceived financial knowledge and overconfidence. The first is measured as the share of financial items respondents declared being familiar with before responding to the quiz questions (ex-ante self-assessment).⁹ Similarly, ex-post self-assessment is evaluated based on the respondents' opinions about the number of correct answers given to the financial knowledge questions. The dummy overconfidence is equal to 1 if the ex-post assessed number of correct answers to the financial knowledge quiz is greater than the actual number of correct answers.¹⁰

| variable | questions |
|--|---|
| financial knowledge (<i>FK</i>) | Financial knowledge is the first principal component computed on the correct answers given to the following questions: (Q1) Please tell me whether the following statement is true or false: When investments offer higher rates of return, they are probably riskier than investments offering lower rates of return; answer options: 1. True; 2. False; 3. Don't know; 4. Refusal; (Q2) Suppose the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year, and inflation 2% per year. After one year, with the money you have on the savings account you would be able to buy; answer options: 1. More than today; 2. Exactly the same as today; 3. Less than today; 4. Don't know; 5. Refusal; (Q3) Suppose you had €100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After five years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow?; answer options: 1. More than €102; 2. Exactly €102; 3. Less than €102; 4. Don't know; 5. Refusal; (Q4) A 15-year mortgage typically requires higher monthly payments than a 30-year mortgage, but the total interest paid over the life of the loan will be less. True or false?; answer options: 1. True; 2. False; 3. Don't know; 4. Refusal; (Q5) When an investor decides to buy different financial instrument, the risk of losing the invested capital; answer options: 1. Grows; 2. Decreases; 3. Remains the same; 4. Don't know; 5. Refusal. In 2019 only, the additional following questions were also asked: (Q6) The spread between Italian and German Government bonds; 3. The Italian state; 4. Depends on how risky it is to invest in Italian Government bonds; 5. Don't know; 6. Refusal'; (Q7) If the interest rate falls, what should happen to bond prices?; answer options: 1. Rise; 2. Fall; 3. Stay the same; 4. None of the above; 5. Don't know; 6. Refusal. |
| perceived financial knowledge (<i>PFK</i>), | Perceived financial knowledge is measured by means of the quintiles of the sample distribution of the number of financial items that respondents reported heard about and understood before engaging in the financial knowledge quiz. |
| overconfidence/underconfidence (<i>OC/UC</i>) | The over/underconfidence indicators are based on the difference between the number of the cor- rect answers given to financial knowledge questions (Q1)-(Q5) and those assessed ex-post (i.e., after answering the financial knowledge quiz). Underconfidence takes the value 1 if the difference between the number of the correct answers as assessed ex-post and the actual number of correct answers is negative, and 0 otherwise. Overconfidence takes the value 1 if the difference is positive, and 0 otherwise. |

Table 2 - Actual and perceived financial knowledge: survey questions

9 In the model *perceived financial knowledge* is expressed in quintiles; this allows the variable to be homogeneous across different surveys since the number of questions on financial knowledge was 7 in 2019 and 5 in 2020 and 2021 (see Table 2).

10 Broihanne et al. (2014).

Table 3 reports the descriptive statistics for actual and perceived financial knowledge.¹¹

| variable | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 | all years |
|--|-------|-------|-------|-----------|
| financial knowledge indicator | 0.42 | 0.48 | 0.48 | 0.46 |
| adjusted financial knowledge indicator | 0.30 | 0.35 | 0.39 | 0.35 |
| overconfidence | 28% | 23% | 22% | 24% |
| underconfidence | 16% | 15% | 19% | 17% |
| n° observations | 2,920 | 3,089 | 2,695 | 8,704 |

Table 3 - Financial-knowledge related variables: average values by year

Average values for the financial knowledge indicator and adjusted financial knowledge indicator and the proportions for the overconfidence and underconfidence indicators.

The level of financial knowledge is quite low. The three-year mean value of the first principal component indicator is slightly less than 0.5 and falls to 0.35 if computed on the adjusted answers. However, in both cases the indicators show a slight increase over the period 2019–2021.

The proportions of respondents that can be regarded as overconfident and underconfident respectively are 24% and 17% in the three-year pooled sample. Over the time span considered, overconfidence fell down by 6 basis points from 28% to 22%, while underconfidence grew slightly from 16% to 19%.

Personal traits include financial anxiety, self-efficacy, risk aversion and trust in financial advisors, measured through the questions reported in Table 4.¹²

For estimation purposes, the variable 'financial anxiety' is defined as an indicator based on the principal component analysis of the answers to the question reported in Table 4, normalised between zero and 1. We also used three sub-indicators (see Appendix Table a.1 for more details), that is, 1–5 Likert scale variables based respectively on the items identified as 'avoidance' ('I prefer not to think about the state of my personal finances'), 'boredom' ('I find monitoring my bank or credit card accounts very boring'), and 'guiltiness' ('thinking about my personal finances can make me feel guilty'). These sub-indicators were selected following analysis of the principal component factor loadings and their economic meaning.

The variable 'self-efficacy' is computed based on principal component analysis of the responses to the question reported in Table 4, normalised between zero and 1. We also used two sub-indicators (see Appendix Table a.1 for more details), that is, 1-4 scale variables, measuring respectively perceived easiness of achieving goals ('it is easy to achieve my financial goals') and perceived easiness of solving problems ('when faced

¹¹ On average, PFK belongs to the third quintile which corresponds to self-declared familiarity with approximately 40% of the financial knowledge items.

¹² An additional personal trait that might affect financial planning is attitude to procrastination (Lay, 1986). In our case, this was surveyed only in the 2019 and 2020 waves and is not comparable across waves since the questions differed. However, in Section 5, we describe some empirical investigations.

with a financial challenge, I have an easy time figuring out a solution'). As before, these sub-indicators were selected following analysis of the principal component factor load-ings and their economic meaning.

'Risk aversion' is a dummy that is equal to 1 if the respondent declares preference for investment with low/moderate risk and low/moderate returns.

'Trust in financial advisors' is a dummy variable that is equal to 1 if the respondent declares trust in financial advisors.

| Table 4 – I | Personal | traits: | survey | questions |
|-------------|----------|---------|--------|-----------|
|-------------|----------|---------|--------|-----------|

| variable | survey question |
|---|--|
| financial anxiety | Respondents were asked to state their opinion on the following statements: 'Thinking about my personal finances can make me feel anxious (anxiety); There's little point in saving money, be- cause you could lose it all through no fault of your own (helplessness); I prefer not to think about the state of my personal finances (avoidance); I find monitoring my bank or credit card accounts very boring (boredom); I would rather someone else who I trusted kept my finance organised (unburdening); discussing my finances can make my heart race or make me feel stressed (stress); I get myself into situations where I do not know where I'm going to get the money to 'bail' myself out (hopelessness); I don't make a big effort to understand my finances (disengage- ment); Thinking about my personal finances can make me feel guilty (guiltiness)'. Single answers are given on a 5- point Likert scale, from 1 – 'strongly disagree' to 5 – 'strongly agree'. For references see: Burchell (2003), Grable et al., (2015), Shapiro and Burchell (2012). |
| self-efficacy | Respondents were asked to state their opinions about the following statements: 'It is easy to stick to my spending plan when unexpected expenses arise; It is easy to reach my financial goals; When unexpected expenses occur I usually have to use credit; When faced with a financial challenge, I have an easy time figuring out a solution; I lack confidence in my ability to manage my finances; I worry about running out of money in retirement'. Single answers are given on 4-point Likert scale, from 1 – 'totally true' to 4 – 'totally false'. For references see: Lown (2011). |
| risk aversion | Respondents were asked to choose which, among the following, best described their preferred investment profile: 1) low return and low risk; 2) moderate return and moderate risk; 3) high return and high risk; 4) very high return and very high risk. For reference see: Guiso et al. (2018). |
| trust in financial advisors ¹³ | The financial trust variable counts the number of financial actors considered either 'trustworthy' or 'absolutely trustworthy' among the following: 'banks' (or 'my bank'), 'financial advisors' (or 'my financial advisor' or 'independent advisors') and 'insurance companies' (or 'my insurance company'). 'High financial trust' is an indicator that takes the value 1 if financial trust variable is higher than the sample median. |
| | |

Table 5 report the descriptive statistics of the personal traits variables.

On average, the financial anxiety indicator shows a slight decline over time while the self-efficacy indicator is fairly stable. The proportion of respondents who can be regarded as risk averse remains at around 40%, and those showing trust in financial advisors remain at about 10%.

Appendix Tables a.2 and a.3 respectively report the descriptive statistics of the waves, pooled over the three year-period 2019-2021 and the average values by year.

^{13 &#}x27;Financial advisors' refers to either investment advisors or bank staff or portfolio managers. The models were estimated also considering trust in the financial system, but the results were not significantly different.

Table 5 – Personal-trait related variables: average values by year

| variable | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 | all years |
|--|-------|-------|-------|-----------|
| financial anxiety indicator | 0.41 | 0.38 | 0.34 | 0.37 |
| self-efficacy indicator | 0.57 | 0.56 | 0.55 | 0.56 |
| self-efficacy – easiness of achieving goals | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| self-efficacy - easiness of solving problems | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 |
| financial anxiety - boredom | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| financial anxiety - avoidance | 3 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| financial anxiety - guiltiness | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| risk aversion | 39% | 41% | 38% | 39% |
| trust in financial advisors | 10% | 11% | 10% | 10% |
| n° observations | 2,920 | 3,089 | 2,695 | 8,704 |

Rates of diffusion as percentages for trust in financial advisors and risk aversion.

4 Model specification

In the present Section, we explore the link between the propensity for financial planning, financial knowledge and personal traits. We specify the following probit model:

$$P(Y_{it} = 1) = \Phi(\beta_0 + \beta_1 F K_{it} + \beta_2 P F K_{it} + \beta_3 O C_{it} + [PT'_{it} * \eta] + [X'_{it} * \gamma] + \tau_t + \varepsilon_{it})$$
(1)

where Y_{it} is a dummy variable that takes the value 1 if individual *i* in year *t* (with *t*= 2019, 2020, 2021) declares having had a financial plan in place during the previous 12 months and 0 otherwise. Φ is the cumulative normal distribution; τ_t are fixed effect and ε_{it} is the error term. The covariates of interest include: FK_{it} , which is the financial knowledge indicator, PFK_{it} , which is ex-ante perceived financial knowledge and OC_{it} , which is overconfidence.

The vector PT_{it} includes the personal-trait variables, namely: financial anxiety, financial self-efficacy, risk aversion, and trust in financial advisors. The vector X_{it} includes the control variables, that is:

- financial control dummy variables: saving (at least regularly), budgeting and indebtedness;
- socio-demographic variables: age (in linear and quadratic terms), gender, education (secondary school, high school, university degree, with primary school as reference category), marital status (cohabiting, married, divorced, widowed, with single the reference category), occupational status (self-employed, retired and non-professional status, that is, student, housewife, unemployed, with employee the reference category), dummy for monthly family income level in euro (with less than €900 the reference category)¹⁴, dummy for level of financial wealth (family

14 Missing data on family income are imputed by GfK Italia.

saving and investment amount expressed in euro, with less than \notin 6.000 the reference category)¹⁵, and geographic area (Centre, and South and Islands, with North the reference category).

Based on the above model, we tested the following hypotheses.

The empirical evidence reviewed in Section 2 suggests a positive relationship between attitude to financial planning and (after checking for endogeneity) both actual and perceived financial knowledge (Hypothesis 1).

With regard to personal traits, we hypothesize a negative association between propensity for financial planning and financial anxiety (Hypothesis 2.1) and a positive association between financial planning and financial self-efficacy (Hypothesis 2.2). We expect the association with risk aversion to be ambiguous since it could lead individuals to plan to counteract the risks associated with financial shocks, but might, instead, promote feelings of anxiety and unease and, consequently, disengagement (Hypothesis 2.3). Finally, for the link with trust in financial advisors, we expect this to be positive since individuals trusting professionals will be more likely to request financial advice and show a greater propensity for planning to the extent that this is associated with a more structured decision-making process and/or reflects the orientation recommended by financial advisors (Hypothesis 2.4).

Planning is also expected to be linked positively to financial habits, such as being able to save regularly, to adhere to a budget and not to be indebted (Hypothesis 3).

4.1 Alternative model specifications

We estimated alternative specifications of model (1). First, *FK* is replaced by the adjusted FK indicators (*AFK*; model 2) and inclusion of the dummy *UC* (*Undercon-fidence*), which takes the value 1 if the number of correct answers to the financial knowledge quiz assessed *ex-post* is lower than the actual number of correct answers. Second, the indicators of financial self-efficacy and financial anxiety are replaced by dummies based on the subset of the items described in Section 3.

We also considered all the cross-sections pooled (see Section 5.1) and the individual cross-sections (see Section 5.2), whereby the latter track potential changes in the link between financial planning and the dependent variables, over time.

Finally, we ran two robustness checks based on testing the linear probability models and inserting the lagged values of the financial knowledge indicator to overcome possible endogeneity problems (see Appendices A.2 and A.3).

In the case of all of the specifications, sample weights and robust standard errors were applied in the estimation process.

¹⁵ Real estate assets are excluded; missing data on financial wealth are imputed by GfK Italia.

5 Estimation results

5.1 Pooled sample model specifications

Table 6 reports the marginal effects estimated for the different probit model specifications.

| Table 6 – Propensity | for financial | planning - | - Marginal | effects pooled | sample estimates |
|----------------------|---------------|------------|------------|----------------|------------------|
|----------------------|---------------|------------|------------|----------------|------------------|

| explicative variables | Model (1) | Model (2) | Model (3) | Model (4) |
|--|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| financial knowledge | 0.05*** | | 0.05*** | |
| adjusted financial knowledge | | 0.02* | | 0.02* |
| PFK 2° quintile | 0.02* | 0.02** | 0.02** | 0.02** |
| PFK 3° quintile | 0.03** | 0.03*** | 0.03** | 0.03*** |
| PFK 4° quintile | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| PFK 5° quintile | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.06*** | 0.07*** |
| overconfidence | 0.02** | 0.01 | | |
| underconfidence | | | -0.01 | -0.01 |
| 2020 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| 2021 | -0.02*** | -0.02*** | -0.03*** | -0.02*** |
| trust in financial advisors | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| self-efficacy indicator | -0.08*** | -0.08*** | -0.08*** | -0.08*** |
| financial anxiety indicator | -0.06** | -0.07*** | -0.06** | -0.07*** |
| risk aversion | -0.004 | -0.004 | -0.006 | -0.004 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** |
| budgeting | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** |
| saving | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| socio-demographic controls | YES | YES | YES | YES |

Marginal effects estimated applying sample weights. Significance levels are based on robust standard errors. ***, ** and * are respectively 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance.

Financial planning attitude is correlated positively to financial knowledge (measured by both FK and AFK). Notably, in line with the literature, perceived knowledge, proxied by *ex-ante* self-assessed financial knowledge (PFK) and especially for the highest quintile, is associated positively with the probability to plan. The association for the misalignment between *ex-post* self-evaluation and actual knowledge appears less relevant, since overconfidence (OC) is significant in only one model specification and underconfidence (UC) is never significant. These results support Hypothesis 1.

With the exception of risk aversion (which is never significant), all the personal traits are significant in almost all the models. Specifically, both financial anxiety and self-efficacy are related negatively to the probability of having a financial plan, which supports Hypothesis 2.1 but rejects Hypothesis 2.2. Financial decision makers who trust their financial advisors are more likely to engage in financial planning, which supports Hypothesis 2.3.¹⁶

Personal financial management habits and financial conditions are also relevant. Financial decision makers who are in debt, stick to a budget and save regularly are more likely to have a financial plan, which supports Hypothesis 3.

Given the importance of personal traits, we ran a specification to identify the effects of the individual items for financial anxiety and self-efficacy indicators (Table 7). When we consider these single items we find great heterogeneity in both significance levels and marginal effects. In particular, the effect for self-efficacy seems to be driven by financial decision makers who find it easy to resolve financial problems, whereas for the item financial anxiety, the negative association in Table 6 seems to be driven by investors who prefer to ignore their financial situation.

| explicative variables | Model (5) | Model (6) | Model (7) | Model (8) |
|--|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| financial knowledge | 0.05*** | | 0.05*** | |
| adjusted financial knowledge | | 0.02* | | 0.02* |
| PFK 2° quintile | 0.02* | 0.02** | 0.02* | 0.02** |
| PFK 3° quintile | 0.03** | 0.03** | 0.03** | 0.03*** |
| PFK 4° quintile | 0.03*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| PFK 5° quintile | 0.06*** | 0.07*** | 0.06*** | 0.07*** |
| overconfidence | 0.02** | 0.01 | | |
| underconfidence | | | -0.01 | -0.01 |
| 2020 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| 2021 | -0.03*** | -0.02*** | -0.03*** | -0.03*** |
| trust in financial advisors | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| self-efficacy - easiness of achieving goals | -0.001 | -0.003 | -0.001 | -0.003 |
| self-efficacy - easiness of solving problems | -0.01*** | -0.01** | -0.01*** | -0.01** |
| financial anxiety - boredom | -0.005 | -0.005 | -0.005 | -0.005 |
| financial anxiety - avoidance | -0.01*** | -0.02*** | -0.01*** | -0.02*** |
| financial anxiety - guiltiness | -0.0002 | -0.001 | -0.0001 | -0.001 |
| risk aversion | -0.004 | -0.004 | -0.006 | -0.005 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| budgeting | 0.06*** | 0.06*** | 0.06*** | 0.07*** |
| saving | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| socio-demographic controls | YES | YES | YES | YES |

| Table 7 | - Propensity | for financia | l planning: | disentangling | self-efficacy a | and financial | anxiety impact |
|---------|--------------|--------------|-------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|----------------|
|---------|--------------|--------------|-------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|----------------|

Marginal effects estimated applying sample weights. Significance levels are based on robust standard errors.***, ** and * are respectively 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance. Estimates computed applying sample weights. Coefficients of the socio-demographic variables were inserted in the model as control variables and are available upon request.

16 Similar to the procrastination estimates (available upon request from the authors), responses to the 2019 wave suggest a negative role of procrastination in the propensity for financial planning, which is in line with the empirical literature. However, the estimates for the 2020 cross-section show that procrastination is not significant. The results reported in this section were confirmed by robustness checks (Appendices A.2 and A.3), which test the linear probability models and take account of financial knowledge endogeneity issues.

5.2 Cross-section model analysis

It is possible that households' financial habits might have changed significantly in response to the Covid-19 crisis. In order to track possible changes over time in the relationship between attitude to financial planning and the above-mentioned variables, we ran cross-section estimations for each year in the period 2019-2021. In addition to the previous model specifications, we included financial condition variables available only for 2021. Specifically, we considered: whether respondents decreased their saving (*decreased saving*) or suffered a temporary or permanent decrease in family income compared to before the pandemic (*vulnerability*); whether the household struggled to cope with expenses (*financial fragility*) or was exposed to unexpected expenses quantified in \in 1,000 (*unable to cope with unexpected expenses*). Appendix A.1 provides further details on variables definition and descriptive statistics.

Table 8 shows that in the period 2019-2021, the impact of financial knowledge on the attitude to financial planning was significant and positive, although the marginal effect decreased from 6 to 4 basis points. Similarly, the marginal effect of self-assessed financial knowledge for the highest quintile fell by approximately 2 basis points, from 0.06 in 2019 to 0.04 in 2021.

The misalignment between actual and perceived financial knowledge, i.e. the positive association with overconfidence in 2019, becomes not significant in 2020 and 2021.¹⁷

In relation to personal traits, the significant and negative link with self-efficacy in 2019 loses significance in 2021, while the marginal effect of trust in financial advisors declines from 4 basis points in 2019 to 2 basis points in 2021.

However, in 2021, financial conditions and personal finance management proxies are more important. In particular, indebtedness to financial institutions and banks increases the probability that the decision maker will adopt a financial plan by 4 basis points in 2020 (+2 b.p. in 2019). The marginal effect of indebtedness to friends and relatives increased to 7 basis points in 2021 from 3 basis points in 2019. In addition, always remaining within one's budget increased attitude to financial planning by 8 basis points in 2021 (+4 b.p. in 2019).

For the variables available only for the 2021 wave, more vulnerable financial decision makers, who have experienced a temporary or a permanent decrease in the family income, are more inclined to have a financial plan (+3 b.p.), in contrast to more fragile financial decision makers who always struggle to cope with expenses. Finally,

¹⁷ As a robustness check, we also ran a model specification including underconfidence rather than overconfidence; underconfident significantly reduced (by 4 basis points) the probability of making a financial plan only for the 2021 wave.

we find that having experienced a decrease in savings since the outbreak of the pandemic worsens the attitude to financial planning.

| explicative variables | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 (a) | 2021 (b) |
|--|---------|---------|----------|----------|
| financial knowledge | 0.06** | 0.05** | 0.04** | 0.03* |
| PFK 2° quintile | 0.05** | 0.02 | 0.004 | 0.004 |
| PFK 3° quintile | 0.03 | 0.03 | 0.023 | 0.03 |
| PFK 4° quintile | 0.06*** | 0.02 | 0.03 | 0.03* |
| PFK 5° quintile | 0.06*** | 0.07*** | 0.04** | 0.05** |
| overconfidence | 0.04*** | 0.02 | -0.002 | -0.004 |
| trust in financial advisors | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.02* | 0.03 |
| self-efficacy indicator | -0.08** | -0.09* | -0.04 | -0.02 |
| financial anxiety indicator | -0.06 | -0.08 | -0.02 | -0.04 |
| risk aversion | -0.007 | -0.01 | 0.007 | 0.008 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 0.02 | 0.01 | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.05*** | 0.07** |
| budgeting | 0.04*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.08*** |
| saving | 0.04*** | 0.02 | 0.02* | 0.02 |
| fragility | | | | -0.02** |
| vulnerability | | | | 0.03** |
| unable to cope with unexpected expenses | | | | -0.02 |
| decreased savings | | | | -0.04** |
| socio-demographic controls | yes | yes | yes | yes |
| n° observations | 2,920 | 3,053 | 2,695 | 2,695 |

Table 8 - Propensity for financial planning - Marginal effects, by year

The table reports marginal effects estimated applying sample weights. Significance levels are based on robust standard errors. ***, ** and * are respectively 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance.

6 Conclusions

Financial planning is key to correct management of personal finances. Financial well-being also depends crucially on the ability to look beyond the short-term and consider long-term financial needs. The OECD Financial competence framework for adults in the European Union, referred to earlier, devotes a specific section to *Planning and managing finances*, which identifies the *«competences for managing the financial situation of an individual or household in the short and long term»* and specifies that *«this not only includes managing income and expenditure on a day-to-day basis but also planning for the future»* (European Union/OECD, 2022, p. 9).

From a policy perspective, it is important to identify those factors that are linked positively to the propensity for financial planning especially when they can be used to prompt correct behaviour. The present study investigated Italian decision makers' attitudes to financial planning, using CONSOB Observatory survey data. We investigated the roles played by financial knowledge and some personal traits, controlling for socio-demographic characteristics and the household's financial situation.

Our estimates suggest a positive association between attitude to financial planning and financial knowledge, both actual and perceived, which is in line with expectations and the empirical literature.

However, our findings for the estimated impact of personal traits are more mixed. On the one hand, the attitude to financial anxiety and, in particular, the will to avoid thinking about the state of one's personal finances are, as expected, negatively associated with the propensity to plan. On the other hand, the negative relationship with self-efficacy is an unexpected finding, which may be driven by the attitude captured by one of the items in the self-efficacy indicator, regarding individual perception of personal ability to manage financial problems, that is the perception that it will not be difficult to find a solution to a potential financial problem. This confidence might be linked to better financial conditions and/or higher overconfidence. In fact, 86% of higher income individuals show higher levels of financial self-efficacy and 64% of those showing overconfidence exhibit higher financial self-efficacy. This evidence is relevant to the segmentation of individuals by personal attributes and psychological traits, and the identification of the measures that need to be put in place to obtain value from financial planning within financial education programmes, and from interactions with financial intermediaries and advisors.

The positive association between trust in financial advisors and attitude to planning would seem to highlight that professionals may lead customers towards better management of their finances. In addition, according to a qualitative survey on the value of financial advice and robo-advice (Caratelli et al., 2019), Italian investors assign high value to the educational stimuli obtained during interactions with their advisors and, especially, if this support is particularly timely (a sort of just-in-time financial education). In this context, professionals could encourage investors to adopt a longterm approach to their personal finance management and offer appropriate support and guidance. However, as demand for financial advice is more frequent among higher income individuals and since individuals seem more inclined to rely on 'informal advice' (from trusted individuals such as family, friends and colleagues), reliance only on professional support to foster a long-term attitude to money management might not be enough.

Finally, in relation to the association between financial planning and the other financial control components, the positive link between saving and financial wealth is in line with expectations, whatever is the causal direction of the connection. However, the association with indebtedness needs further investigation to show whether it persuades individuals who are indebted to use resources more efficiently to meet their financial obligations or reflects the positive correlation between wealth and indebtedness, that is, the possibility of being granted a loan from a financial intermediary.

This study adds to the literature on household finance and financial control and offers insights which should be useful for the design of financial education programmes and information on the potential role of financial intermediaries in orienting their customers towards a correct attitude to money management.

Since perceived ability to solve financial issues plays a role in financial planning, more attention should be paid to enabling the population to have a better and unbiased awareness of their financial skills. It is also important to take account of additional personal traits, such as financial anxiety, when considering individual segmentation and the definition of content and methods to promote appropriate attitudes and behaviours. In this respect, the tools used to elicit individuals' personal traits will be crucial. The use of multi-item questionnaires, corroborated by the experimental literature, could help to mitigate the risk of unreliable self-assessments.

Also, given the difficulty involved in promoting the benefits of a long-term vision, which is at the basis of financial planning, education programmes should provide not only financial notions but also easy-to use techniques and personal budget management and financial planning tools. They should also include motivational techniques, such as goal-setting, that are immediately applicable. This would increase perception of self-control over personal decision-making without promoting overconfidence and the illusion that they can manage in any case without appropriate skills.

References

- Acharjya, B. and S. Natarajan (2018), Review on the Theories of Financial Planning, International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics 118 (18), pp. 4347-4355
- Alhenawia, Y. and K. Elkhalb (2013), Financial literacy of U.S. households: Knowledge vs. long-term financial planning, Financial Services Review 22 (2013), pp. 211–244
- Allgood, S. and W.B. Walstad (2011), The effects of perceived and actual financial knowledge on credit card behavior, Networks Financial Institute at Indiana State University, 2011-WP-15
- Ameriks, J., A. Caplin and J. Leahy (2003). Wealth accumulation and the propensity to plan. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 118, pp. 1007–1047
- Ameriks, J., A. Caplin, J. Leahy and T. Tyler (2007). Measuring self-control problems. American Economic Review, 97, pp. 966–972
- Anderson, A., F. Baker and D.T. Robinson (2015), Precautionary savings, retirement planning and misperceptions of financial literacy, National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper no. 21356
- Anderson, M., Y. Li, F. Bechhofer, D. McCrone and R. Stewart (2000), Sooner Rather than Later? Younger and Middle-Aged Adults Preparing for Retirement, Aging and Society 20 (4), pp. 445–66
- Arrondel, L., M. Debbich and F. Savignac (2013), Financial Literacy and Financial Planning in France, Numeracy: Vol. 6: Iss. 2, Article 8
- Bandura, A. (1977), Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavior change, Psychological Review, 84, pp. 191-215
- Bandura, A. (1986), Social foundations of thought and action: a social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall
- Bandura, A. (1997), Self-efficacy: the exercise of control, New York: Freeman
- Barber, B.M. and T. Odean (2001), Boys will be boys: Gender, overconfidence, and common stock investment, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, February
- Becker, G. and C. Mulligan (1997), The endogenous determination of time preference, The Quarterly Journal of Economics 112, pp. 729-758
- Behrman, J.R., O.S. Mitchell, C.K. Soo and D. Bravo (2012), How Financial Literacy Affects Household Wealth Accumulation, American Economic Review 102(3), pp. 300–304

- Biais, B., D. Hilton, K. Mazurier and S. Pouget (2005), Judgmental Overconfidence, Self-Monitoring and Trading Performance in an Experimental Financial Market, available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=686379
- Billari, F.C., M. Gentile, N. Linciano and F. Saita (2019), Who intends to become financially literate? Insights from the Theory of Planned Behaviour, CONSOB Working Paper no. 88
- Bogan, V.L., C.C. Geczy and J.E. Grable (2020), Financial planning: A research agenda for the next decade, Financial Planning review, Volume 3, Issue 2
- Boisclair, D., A. Lusardi and P.C. Michaud (2014), Financial literacy and retirement planning in Canada, NBER National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper no. 20297
- Borghans, L., A.L. Duckworth, J.J. Heckman and B. Weel (2008), The economics and psychology of personality traits, The Journal of Human Resources, XLIII, 4
- Broihanne, M.H., M. Merli and P. Roger (2014), Overconfidence, risk perception and the risk-taking behavior of finance professionals, Finance Research Letters, 11(2), pp. 64–73
- Brounen, D., G.K. Koedijk and R.A.J. Pownall (2016), Household financial planning and savings behavior, Journal of International Money and Finance, 69, pp. 95-107
- Brown, J.R. and A. Previtero (2014), Procrastination, Present-Biased Preferences, and Financial Behaviors. Champaign, IL: University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign
- Burchell, B. (2003), Identifying, describing and understanding Financial Aversion: Financial phobes, University of Cambridge
- Caratelli, M., C. Giannotti, N. Linciano and P. Soccorso (2019), Financial advice and robo advice in the investors' perception. Evidence from a qualitative study, CONSOB, Quaderno FinTech no. 6
- Chatterjee, S., L. Fan, B. Jacobs and R. Haas (2017), Risk tolerance and goals-based savings behavior of households: The role of financial literacy. Journal of Personal Finance, 16(1), pp. 66-77
- CONSOB (2021), Report on financial investments of Italian households, https://www.consob.it/web/consob-and-its-activities/report-on-investmentshouseholds
- Dow, Jr. J.P. and Y. Jin (2013), The Determination of Individual Financial Planning Horizons, Southwestern Economic Review
- Elder, H.W. and P.M. Rudolph (1999), Does Retirement Planning Affect the Level of Retirement Satisfaction?, Financial Services Review, 8 (2), pp. 117–27
- European Commission (2018), The silver economy, Final Report, A study prepared for the European Commission DG Communications Networks, Content and Technology by Technopolis Group and Oxford Economics, https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/a9efa929-3ec7-11e8-b5fe-01aa75ed71a1

- European Union/OECD (2022), Financial competence framework for adults in the European Union, https://www.oecd.org/finance/financial-competence-frameworkfor-adults-in-the-European-Union.htm
- Fornero, E. and C. Monticone (2011), Financial literacy and pension plan participation in Italy, DOI: 10.1017/S1474747211000473
- Gamst-Klaussen T., P. Steel and F. Svartdal F (2019), Procrastination and Personal Finances: Exploring the Roles of Planning and Financial Self-Efficacy. Front. Psychol. 10:775, doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00775
- Gathergood, J. (2012), Self-control, financial literacy and consumer over-indebtedness, Journal of Economic Psychology 33 (2012), pp. 590–602
- Glaser, M. and M. Weber (2007), Overconfidence and trading volume, The Geneva Risk and Insurance Review Vol. 32, No. 1, June, pp. 1-36
- Grable, J., W.M.A. Heo and A.M.S. Rabbani (2015), Financial Anxiety, Physiological Arousal, and Planning Intention, Journal of Financial Therapy, Volume 5, Issue 2
- Guiso, L., P. Sapienza and L. Zingales (2018), Time Varying Risk Aversion, Journal of Financial Economics, 128, 403–421
- Hanna, S.D. and S. Lindamood (2010), Quantifying the economic benefits of personal financial planning, Financial Services Review, 19 (2), pp. 111-127
- Hilgert M.A., J.M. Hogarth and S. Beverly (2003), Household financial management: the connection between knowledge and behavior, Federal Reserve Bulletin
- Hung, A.A., A. M. Parker and J. Yoong (2009), Defining and Measuring Financial Literacy, RAND Corporation Working Paper
- Katona, G. (1974), Psychology and Consumer Economics, Journal of Consumer Research, 1 (1), pp. 1–8
- Kim, G.J. and S.D. Hanna (2017), Do self-control measures affect saving behavior? Journal of Personal Finance, 16 (2), pp. 7-19
- Klapper, L. and G.A. Panos (2011), Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning. The Russian Case, Policy
- Lay, C. (1986), At last, my research article on procrastination, Journal of Research in Personality, 20, pp. 474-495
- Lee, J.M. and S.D. Hanna (2015), savings goals and saving behavior from a perspective of Maslow's hierarchy of needs, Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning, 26(2), pp. 129–147
- Lown, J.M. (2011), Development and Validation of a Financial Self-Efficacy Scale, Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning, 22(2), pp. 54-63
- Lown, J.M., J. Kim, M. Gutter and A.-T. Hunt, 2015, Self-efficacy and Savings Among Middle and Low Income Households, Journal of Family and Economic Issues, Springer, vol. 36(4), pp. 491-502, December

- Lusardi, A. (2008), Household saving behavior: the role of financial literacy, information, and financial education programs, Netspar Discussion Paper 2008 - 009
- Lusardi, A. and O.S. Mitchell (2007), Financial literacy and retirement preparedness: evidence and implications for financial education, Bus Econ 42, pp. 35–44, https://doi.org/10.2145/20070104
- Lusardi, A. and O.S. Mitchell (2008), Planning and financial literacy: how do women fare?, American Economic Review, May 2008, 98(2), pp. 413-417
- Lusardi, A. and O.S. Mitchell (2009), How ordinary consumers make complex economic decisions: financial literacy and retirement, NBER WP no. 15350
- Lusardi, A. and O.S. Mitchell (2011a), Financial literacy and planning: implications for retirement well-being, in Financial literacy: implications for retirement security and the financial marketplace, pp. 17-39, edited by Mitchell, O.S. and A. Lusardi, Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press
- Lusardi, A. and O.S. Mitchell (2011b), Financial literacy and retirement planning in the United States, Journal of Pension Economics & Finance, Volume 10, Issue 4, pp. 509 – 525, doi: https://doi.org/10.1017/S147474721100045X
- Lusardi, A. and O.S. Mitchell (2014), The economic importance of financial literacy: theory and evidence, Journal of Economic Literature, 52(1), pp. 5-44
- Lusardi, A., O.S. Mitchell and V. Curto (2010), Financial literacy among the young, Journal of Consumer Affairs, 44(2), pp. 358–380
- Markowitz, H. (1952), Portfolio selection, Journal of Finance, 7(1), 77
- Modigliani, F. and R. Brumberg (1954), Utility analysis and the consumption function: an interpretation of cross section data. In K. Kurihara (Ed.), Post keynesian economics. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press
- Nosic, A. and M. Weber (2010), How risky do I invest: The role of risk attitudes, risk perceptions and overconfidence, Decision Analysis, 7, pp. 282-301
- Nye, P. and C. Hillyard (2013), Personal financial behavior: the influence of quantitative literacy and material values, Numeracy: Vol. 6: Iss. 1, Article 3
- Parker, A.M., W. Bruine De Bruin, J. Yoong and R. Willis (2012), Inappropriate Confidence and Retirement Planning: Four Studies with a National Sample, Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, J. Behav. Dec. Making, 25, pp. 382–389
- Robb, C.A. and A. Woodyard (2011), Financial knowledge and best practice behavior, Journal of financial counseling and planning 22(1), pp. 60–70
- Sekita, S., V. Kakkar and M. Ogaki (2018), Wealth, financial literacy and behavioral biases: evidence from Japan, Institute for Economic Studies, Keio University, Keio-IES Discussion Paper Series
- Shapiro, G.K. and B. Burchell (2012), Measuring Financial Anxiety, Journal of Neuroscience, Psychology, and Economics, 5(2), pp. 92-103

- Shefrin, H. and R.H. Thaler (1981), An Economic Theory of Self-Control, Journal of Political Economy 89(2), pp. 392-406
- Shim, S., J.J. Xiao, B.L. Barber and A.C. Lyons (2009), Pathways to life success: a conceptual model of financial well-being for young adults. J. Appl. Dev. Psychol. 30, 708–723. doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2009.02.003
- Steel, P. (2007), The nature of procrastination: a meta-analytic and theoretical review of quintessential self-regulatory failure. Psychol. Bull. 133, pp. 65–94, doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.1.65
- Steel, P. (2010), Arousal, avoidant and decisional procrastinators: do they exist? Pers. Individ. Diff. 48, 926–934. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.02.025
- Steel, P., F. Svartdal, T. Thundiyil and T. Brothen (2018), Examining procrastination across multiple goal stages: a longitudinal study of temporal motivation theory. Front. Psychol. 9:327. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00327
- Stewart, S.I. and C.A. Vogt (1999), A Case-Based Approach to Understanding Vacation Planning, Leisure Sciences, 21 (2), pp. 79–95
- Strömbäck, C., T. Lind, K. Skagerlund, D. Västfjäll and G. Tinghög (2017), Does selfcontrol predict financial behavior and financial well-being?, J. Behav. Exp. Financ. 14, pp. 30–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jbef.2017.04.002
- Topa, G., G. Lunceford and R.E. Boyatzis (2018), Financial planning for retirement: a psychosocial perspective, Front. Psychol. 8:2338, doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02338
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman (1973), Availability: A heuristic for judging frequency and probability. Cognitive psychology, 5(2), pp. 207-232
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman (1975), Judgment under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases, in Utility, probability, and human decision making, pp. 141-162, Springer Netherlands
- van Rooij, M.C.J., A. Lusardi and R.J.M. Alessie (2011), Financial literacy and stock market participation, Journal of Financial Economics, 101(2), pp. 449-472
- van Rooij, M.C.J., A. Lusardi and R.J.M. Alessie (2012), Financial literacy, retirement planning and household wealth, The Economic Journal, May 2012, vol. 122(560), pp. 449-478
- Warschauer, T. (2008), The economic benefits of personal financial planning. Proceedings of the 2008 Academy of Financial Services Annual Conference
- Williams, F.L. (1991), Theories and techniques in financial counselling and planning: a premier text and handbook for assisting middle and low-income clients, West Lafayette, in Purdue Research Foundation
- Yakoboski, J.P., A. Lusardi and A. Hasler (2019), Financial literacy in the United States and its link to financial wellness, The 2019 TIAA Institute-GFLEC Personal Finance Index

Appendix

A.1 Variables definition and descriptive statistics

| Table a.1 – V | /ariable | definition |
|---------------|----------|------------|
|---------------|----------|------------|

| variable | description |
|--|---|
| financial planning | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent reports a financial plan dating back at most the previous 12 months, and 0 otherwise. |
| budgeting | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent declares her/his attitude of always sticking to her/his own budget, and 0 otherwise. |
| saving | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent declares her/his habit of setting aside part of her/his own income at least regularly, and 0 otherwise. |
| indebtedness towards banks | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent declares to be in debt towards a financial institution, to purchase or refurbish a house and/or to cover current expenses, and 0 otherwise. |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent declares to be in debt towards relatives and/or friends, to purchase or refurbish a house and/or to cover current expenses, and 0 otherwise. |
| financial knowledge indicator (FK) | first principal component computed on the correct answers to financial knowledge quiz normal- ised between zero and one |
| adjusted financial knowledge indicator (AFK) | first principal component computed on the correct answers net of potentially unintentional cor- rect answers, where the latter were identified whenever interviewees did not know or refused to self-assess the number of correct answers given to the quiz |
| perceived financial knowledge (PFK) | sample distribution quintiles referring to the number of financial knowledge items that respondents report to have heard and understood |
| overconfidence/underconfidence | overconfidence (underconfidence) is a dummy equal to 1 if the number of the correct answers to the financial knowledge quiz as assessed ex-post is higher (lower) than the actual number of correct answers, and 0 otherwise. |
| financial anxiety | first principal component computed on the correct answers to financial anxiety test normalised between zero and one |
| financial anxiety - guiltiness | agreement level on a 1-5 Likert scale (where 0='totally disagree' and 5='totally agree') with the following statement: 'Thinking about my personal finances can make me feel guilty ' |
| financial anxiety - avoidance | agreement level on a 1-5 Likert scale (where 0='totally disagree' and 5='totally agree') with the following statement: 'I prefer not to think about the state of my personal finances' |
| financial anxiety - boredom | agreement level on a 1-5 Likert scale (where 1='totally disagree' and 5='totally agree') with the following statement: 'I find monitoring my bank or credit card accounts very boring' |
| financial self-efficacy | first principal component computed on the correct answers to financial self-efficacy test nor- malised between zero and one |
| self-efficacy - easiness of achieving goals | disagreement level on a 1-4 scale (where 1='totally true' and 4='totally false') with the following statement: 'it is hard to reach my financial goals' |
| self-efficacy - easiness of solving problems | disagreement level on a 1-4 scale (where 1='totally true' and 4='totally false') with the following statement: 'when faced with a financial challenge, I have an hard time figuring out a solution' |
| risk aversion | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent declares to be oriented towards investment with low/mod- erate risk and low/moderate returns, and 0 otherwise. |
| trust in financial advisors | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent declares to trust financial advisors, and 0 otherwise. |

- cont. -

Cont. Table a.1 - Variable definition

| variable | description |
|---|--|
| secondary school | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent has a secondary school degree, and 0 otherwise. |
| high school | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent has a high school degree, and 0 otherwise. |
| university degree | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent has at least a bachelor's degree, and 0 otherwise. |
| male | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is a male, and 0 otherwise. |
| North | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent lives in the North of Italy, and 0 otherwise. |
| Centre | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent lives in the Centre of Italy |
| South and Island | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent lives in the South of Italy or in the major Italian islands, and 0 otherwise. |
| single | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent lives alone, and 0 otherwise. |
| cohabitant | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent lives in domestic partnership, and 0 otherwise. |
| married | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is married, and 0 otherwise. |
| widowed | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is widowed, and 0 otherwise. |
| divorced | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is divorced, and 0 otherwise. |
| employee | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is employee, and 0 otherwise. |
| self-employed | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is self-employed, and 0 otherwise. |
| retired | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is retired, and 0 otherwise. |
| non-professional status | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent is a housewife, a student or is unemployed, and 0 otherwise. |
| financial wealth (5 classes expressed in euro) | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent belongs to the reported class, and 0 otherwise. |
| monthly family income (9 classes expressed in euro) | dummy equal to 1 if the respondent belongs to the reported class, and 0 otherwise. |

Table a.2 – Descriptive statistics: pooled sample

| variable | mean | S.D. | median | min | max | n |
|---|------|-------|--------|-----|-----|-------|
| financial planning | 8% | 0.28 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| financial knowledge | 0.46 | 0.36 | 0.42 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| adjusted financial knowledge | 0.35 | 0.39 | 0.18 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| PFK | 3 | 1.5 | 3 | 1 | 5 | 8,704 |
| overconfidence | 24% | 0.43 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| underconfidence | 17% | 0.37 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| trust in financial advisors | 10% | 0.31 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| self-efficacy indicator | 0.56 | 0.19 | 0.57 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| financial anxiety indicator | 0.37 | 0.18 | 0.38 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| risk aversion | 39% | 0.49 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 39% | 0.49 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8704 |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 8% | 0.28 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8704 |
| budgeting | 22% | 0.42 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| saving | 38% | 0.48 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| primary school | 5% | 0.22 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| secondary school | 32% | 0.47 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| high school | 43% | 0.50 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| university degree | 20% | 0.40 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| age | 52 | 12.74 | 52 | 22 | 95 | 8,704 |
| number of components | 3 | 1.26 | 3 | 1 | 8 | 8,704 |
| male | 73% | 0.44 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| North | 49% | 0.50 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| Centre | 19% | 0.39 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| South and Island | 32% | 0.46 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| single | 11% | 0.32 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,668 |
| cohabitant | 14% | 0.34 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,668 |
| married | 61% | 0.49 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 8,668 |
| widowed | 7% | 0.25 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,668 |
| divorced | 7% | 0.25 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,668 |
| employee | 48% | 0.50 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| self-employed | 18% | 0.39 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| retired | 24% | 0.42 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| non-professional status | 10% | 0.30 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |

- Cont. -

| variable | mean | S.D. | median | min | max | n |
|-----------------------|------|------|--------|-----|-----|-------|
| financial wealth | | | | | | |
| <€5.000 | 28% | 0.45 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €5.000-€10.000 | 22% | 0.41 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €10.000-€25.000 | 20% | 0.40 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €25.000-€51.000 | 7% | 0.26 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €51.000-€250.000 | 18% | 0.39 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| more than €250.000 | 4% | 0.20 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| monthly family income | | | | | | |
| <€900 | 17% | 0.38 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €900-€1200 | 9% | 0.29 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €1200-€1500 | 18% | 0.38 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €1500-€1800 | 12% | 0.32 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €1800-€2100 | 12% | 0.33 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €2100-€2400 | 10% | 0.30 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €2400-€3000 | 11% | 0.32 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €3000-€4000 | 7% | 0.25 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| €4000-€5000 | 2% | 0.16 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| more than €5000 | 2% | 0.13 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |
| investors | 33% | 0.47 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8,704 |

Cont. Table a.2 – Descriptive statistics: pooled sample

Statistics are computed by applying sample weights.

Quademi di finanza N. 89 settembre 2022

Table a.3 – Descriptive statistics by wave

| variable | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 | all years |
|--------------------------|--------------|-------|-------|---------------|
| primary school | 6% | 5% | 5% | 5% |
| secondary school | 27% | 34% | 33% | 32% |
| high school | 48% | 41% | 41% | 43% |
| university degree | 19% | 20% | 20% | 20% |
| age | 53 | 52 | 52 | 52 |
| number of family members | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 |
| male | 74% | 73% | 72% | 73% |
| North | 48% | 49% | 49% | 49% |
| Centre | 20% | 19% | 19% | 19% |
| South and Island | 32% | 32% | 32% | 32% |
| single | 9% | 11% | 14% | 11% |
| cohabitant | 16% | 14% | 11% | 14% |
| married | 61% | 62% | 61% | 61% |
| widowed | 7% | 6% | 7% | 7% |
| divorced | 49% | 48% | 48% | 48% |
| employee | 19% | 18% | 18% | 18% |
| self-employed | 23% | 24% | 23% | 24% |
| retired | 9% | 10% | 11% | 10% |
| non-professional status | 49% | 48% | 48% | 48% |
| financial wealth | | | | |
| <€5.000 | 28% | 28% | 29% | 28% |
| €5.000-€10.000 | 24% | 22% | 20% | 22% |
| €10.000-€25.000 | 21% | 20% | 19% | 20% |
| €25.000-€51.000 | 6% | 7% | 8% | 7% |
| €51.000-€250.000 | 17% | 19% | 19% | 18% |
| more than €250.000 | 4% | 4% | 4% | 4% |
| monthly family income | | | | |
| <€900 | 19% | 16% | 16% | 17% |
| €900-€1200 | 10% | 9% | 8% | 9% |
| €1200-€1500 | 17% | 18% | 18% | 18% |
| €1500-€1800 | 12% | 12% | 11% | 12% |
| €1800-€2100 | 11% | 13% | 12% | 12% |
| €2100-€2400 | 8% | 10% | 12% | 10% |
| €2400-€3000 | 11% | 11% | 11% | 11% |
| €3000-€4000 | 7% | 6% | 7% | 7% |
| £4000-£5000 | 30/6 | 20/0 | 20/0 | 20/0 |
| more than £5000 | 20% | 270 | 10/6 | 2% |
| investors | 2~0 320/a | 32% | 340/ | 2~0 330/a |
| n° observations | 2 92% | 3 080 | 2 695 | 8 70 <i>4</i> |
| ii ooscivations | 2,320 | 2,003 | 2,095 | 0,704 |

Statistics are computed applying sample weights.

A.2 Linear probability model

As a robustness check the analysis reported in Section 5 was repeated using a linear probability model. Appendix Tables a.4 and a.5 report the results.

| Table a.4 – Propensity | to financial | planning – Linear | probability model | pooled sample estimates |
|------------------------|--------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|
|------------------------|--------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|

| variable | (9) | (10) | (11) | (12) |
|--|----------|-----------|----------|----------|
| financial knowledge | 0.04*** | | 0.05*** | |
| adjusted financial knowledge | | 0.02* | | 0.03** |
| PFK 2° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02* | 0.02 | 0.02* |
| PFK 3° quintile | 0.02 | 0.03** | 0.0222* | 0.03** |
| PFK 4° quintile | 0.03** | 0.04*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| PFK 5° quintile | 0.07*** | 0.08*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** |
| overconfidence | 0.01 | 0.01 | | |
| underconfidence | | | -0.02 | -0.02 |
| 2020 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| 2021 | -0.02*** | -0.02** | -0.02*** | -0.02*** |
| trust in financial advisors | 0.04*** | 0.0435*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| self-efficacy indicator | -0.07*** | -0.08*** | -0.07*** | -0.08*** |
| financial anxiety indicator | -0.07** | -0.07*** | -0.06** | -0.07*** |
| risk aversion | -0.004 | -0.003 | -0.005 | -0.004 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** |
| budgeting | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** |
| saving | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| R squared | 0.08 | 0.08 | 0.08 | 0.08 |
| socio-demographic controls | yes | yes | yes | yes |

Estimates for linear probability model applying sample weights and robust standard errors. ***, ** and * are respectively 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance.

| Table a.5 - Propensity to financial planning: Disentangling self-efficacy and financial anxiety impact, linear pro | obability |
|--|-----------|
| model | |

| variable | (13) | (14) | (15) | (16) |
|--|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| financial knowledge | 0.04*** | | 0.04*** | |
| adjusted financial knowledge | | 0.02* | | 0.03** |
| PFK 2° quintile | 0.01 | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.01 |
| PFK 3° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02* | 0.02 | 0.02* |
| PFK 4° quintile | 0.03** | 0.03*** | 0.03** | 0.03*** |
| PFK 5° quintile | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** |
| overconfidence | 0.01 | 0.01 | | |
| underconfidence | | | -0.01 | -0.01 |
| 2020 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0.01 |
| 2021 | -0.02*** | -0.02*** | -0.02*** | -0.02*** |
| trust in financial advisors | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.04*** |
| self-efficacy - easiness of achieving goals | -0.001 | -0.002 | -0.0005 | -0.002 |
| self-efficacy - easiness of solving problems | -0.01** | -0.01** | -0.01*** | -0.01** |
| financial anxiety - boredom | -0.004 | -0.004 | -0.004 | -0.004 |
| financial anxiety - avoidance | -0.01*** | -0.02*** | -0.01*** | -0.02*** |
| financial anxiety - guiltiness | -0.002 | -0.003 | -0.002 | -0.003 |
| risk aversion | -0.003 | -0.003 | -0.004 | -0.003 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** |
| budgeting | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.07*** |
| saving | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** | 0.03*** |
| R squared | 0.08 | 0.08 | 0.08 | 0.08 |
| socio-demographic controls | yes | yes | yes | yes |

Estimates for the linear probability model applying sample weights and robust standard errors. ***, ** and * are respectively 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance.

A.3 Financial knowledge endogeneity issue

By estimating a model specification including the lagged value of the financial knowledge indicator, this robustness check takes account of possible endogeneity issues. The estimates reported in Tables a.6 and a.7, confirm a positive association between the propensity for financial planning and financial knowledge, although the coefficients are poorly estimated due, likely, due to power issues, since lagging the variable means that one out of the three available waves is lost.

| variable | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) |
|--|----------|----------|----------|------------|
| financial knowledge lag(1) | 0.02 | | 0.02 | |
| adjusted financial knowledge lag(1) | | 0.03* | | 0.03** |
| PFK 2° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 |
| PFK 3° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.03 | 0.0276 |
| PFK 4° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.0244 |
| PFK 5° quintile | 0.05** | 0.05** | 0.05** | 0.0455** |
| overconfidence | 0.001 | 0.0007 | | |
| underconfidence | | | -0.02* | -0.0240* |
| 2021 | -0.04*** | -0.04*** | -0.04*** | -0.0354*** |
| trust in financial advisors | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.0387** |
| self-efficacy indicator | -0.07** | -0.07** | -0.08** | -0.0753** |
| financial anxiety indicator | -0.07* | -0.07* | -0.07* | -0.0688* |
| risk aversion | -0.0008 | -0.0004 | -0.001 | -0.0006 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 0.04*** | 0.03*** | 0.04*** | 0.0355*** |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 0.04* | 0.04* | 0.04* | 0.0387* |
| budgeting | 0.03*** | 0.08*** | 0.08*** | 0.08*** |
| saving | 0.03** | 0.03** | 0.02** | 0.02** |
| socio-demographic controls | yes | yes | yes | yes |
| n° observations | 4,272 | 4,272 | 4,272 | 4,272 |

| Table a.6 – | Propensity for | financial planning | - Marginal effect | s accounting for | r endogeneity of | financial knowledge |
|-------------|----------------|--------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------------|
|-------------|----------------|--------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------------|

Marginal effects estimated applying sample weights. Significance levels are based on robust standard errors. ***, ** and * are respectively 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance.

| variable | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) |
|--|----------|----------|------------|----------|
| financial knowledge lag(1) | 0.02 | | 0.02 | |
| adjusted financial knowledge lag(1) | | 0.02 | | 0.03** |
| PFK 2° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 |
| PFK 3° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 |
| PFK 4° quintile | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 | 0.02 |
| PFK 5° quintile | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** |
| overconfidence | -0.0002 | -0.0005 | | |
| underconfidence | | | -0.02 | -0.02* |
| 2021 | -0.04*** | -0.04*** | -0.04*** | -0.04*** |
| trust in financial advisors | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** | 0.04** |
| self-efficacy - easiness of achieving goals | -0.006 | -0.006 | -0.006 | -0.007 |
| self-efficacy – easiness of solving problems | -0.01 | -0.01 | -0.0108 | -0.01 |
| financial anxiety - boredom | -0.001 | -0.001 | -0.0012 | -0.0008 |
| financial anxiety - avoidance | -0.02*** | -0.02*** | -0.0182*** | -0.02*** |
| financial anxiety - guiltiness | -0.003 | -0.002 | -0.0027 | -0.003 |
| risk aversion | -0.002 | -0.002 | -0.0025 | -0.002 |
| indebtedness towards banks | 0.04*** | 0.04*** | 0.0362*** | 0.04*** |
| indebtedness towards relatives and friends | 0.04* | 0.04** | 0.0439** | 0.04** |
| budgeting | 0.07*** | 0.07*** | 0.0731*** | 0.07*** |
| saving | 0.02** | 0.02** | 0.0240** | 0.02** |
| socio-demographic controls | yes | yes | yes | yes |
| n° observations | 4,272 | 4,272 | 4,272 | 4,272 |

Table a.7 – Propensity for financial planning: Disentangling self-efficacy and financial anxiety impact, accounting for endogeneity of financial knowledge

Marginal effects estimated applying sample weights. Significance levels are based on robust standard errors. ***, ** and * are respectively 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance.

Recenti pubblicazioni

| 89 – settembre 2022 Quaderni di finanza | Attitudine alla pianificazione finanziaria delle famiglie italiane M. Brunetti, R. Ciciretti, M. Gentile, N. Linciano, P. Soccorso | | |
|---|---|--|--|
| 24 – giugno 2022 Quaderni giuridici | Piccole e medie imprese e finanziamento del progetto imprenditoriale: una ricerca per un nuovo tipo di emittente D. Colonnello, E.R. Iannaccone, G. Mollo, M. Onza; con prefazione di R. Sacchi | | |
| 23 – maggio 2022 Quaderni giuridici | Gli sviluppi tecnologici del diritto societario a cura di M. Bianchini, G. Gasparri, G. Resta, G. Trovatore, A. Zoppini | | |
| 10 – luglio 2021 Discussion papers | L'industria del post-trading S.G. Lo Giudice | | |
| 9 – gennaio 2021 Discussion papers | Le OPA in Italia dal 2007 al 2019 Evidenze empiriche e spunti di discussione F. Picco, V. Ponziani, G. Trovatore, M. Ventoruzzo; con introduzione a cura di R. Lener | | |
| 22 – ottobre 2020 Quaderni giuridici | The Prospectus Regulation The long and winding road S. Alvaro, R. Lener, P. Lucantoni; in collaboration with V. Adriani, F. Ciotti, A. Parziale introduced by Carsten Gerner, Reverle | | |
| 88 – novembre 2019 Quaderni di finanza | Who intends to become financially literate? Insights from the Theory of Planned Behaviour F.C. Billari, M. Gentile, N. Linciano, F. Saita | | |
| 21 – settembre 2019 Quaderni giuridici | A 20 anni dal TUF (1998-2018): verso la disciplina della <i>Capital Market Union?</i> Atti del convegno Banca d'Italia – Consob <i>Roma, Banca d'Italia, 6 novembre 2018</i> | | |
| 20 – gennaio 2019 Quaderni giuridici | La nuova via della seta e gli investimenti esteri diretti in settori ad alta intensità tecnologica Il <i>golden power</i> dello Stato italiano e le infrastrutture finanziarie <i>S. Alvaro, M. Lamandini, A. Police, I. Tarola</i> | | |

| 19 – gennaio 2019 Quaderni giuridici | Investitori istituzionali, governo societario e codici di <i>stewardship</i> : Problemi e prospettive S. Alvaro, M. Maugeri, G. Strampelli |
|---|--|
| 18 – dicembre 2018 Quaderni giuridici | Nuovi strumenti di politica industriale per lo sviluppo e la quotazione delle PMI S. Alvaro, S. Caselli, D. D'Eramo |
| 7 – ottobre 2018 Position papers | La mappatura delle sedi di negoziazione in Italia dopo l'entrata in vigore di MiFID II/MiFIR Divisione Mercati, Ufficio Vigilanza Infrastrutture di Mercato |
| 17 – settembre 2018 Quaderni giuridici | Le partecipazioni dei fondi alternativi riservati in società quotate e in altri fondi S. Alvaro, F. Annunziata; con prefazione a cura di M. Stella Richter jr |
| 87 – settembre 2018 Quaderni di finanza | Boardroom gender diversity and performance of listed companies in Italy G.S.F. Bruno, A. Ciavarella, N. Linciano |
| 16 – febbraio 2018 Quaderni giuridici | Tutela degli investitori e dei clienti degli intermediari e ADRs Atti del convegno Consob - Arbitro per le Controversie Finanziarie - Università Luigi Bocconi <i>Milano, Università Bocconi, 11 luglio 2017</i> |
| 8 – gennaio 2018 Discussion papers | Il costo dei fondi comuni in Italia. Evoluzione temporale e confronto internazionale <i>G. Finiguerra, G. Frati, R. Grasso</i> |
| 86 – gennaio 2018 Quaderni di finanza | Non-bank institutional investors' ownership in non-financial companies listed in major European countries F. Fancello, N. Linciano, L. Gasbarri, T. Giulianelli |
| 15 – dicembre 2017 Quaderni giuridici | The marketing of MREL securities after BRRD. Interactions between prudential and transparency requirements and the challenges which lie ahead <i>S. Alvaro, M. Lamandini, D. Ramos Muñoz, E. Ghibellini, F. Pellegrini</i> |
| 85 – dicembre 2017 Quaderni di finanza | Board diversity and firm performance across Europe A. Ciavarella |
| 14 – novembre 2017 Quaderni giuridici | Effetti dei tassi di interesse negativi su mutui e obbligazioni a tasso variabile Un'analisi dei profili giuridici e finanziari S. Alvaro, A. Gentili, C. Mottura |